# CONSUMER AND COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT FRAMEWORK

FOR HEALTH ORGANISATIONS AND CONSUMERS

**FEBRUARY 2017** 



# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

A number of people have collaborated on the development of this document. The review process began in May 2016 with a workshop at the inaugural Health Consumers Queensland Annual Forum and has been supported by consultations with a range of stakeholders including but not limited to the Health Consumers Queensland Board, Queensland Health Consumers Collaborative and feedback from across the Health Consumers Queensland Consumer Network. We would like to thank all of those who contributed to the document including consumer reps, consumer organisations, and health organisation engagement staff.

We would especially like to thank the Consumer and Community Engagement Framework Review Reference Group.

#### Members of the Reference Group:

Principal Project Officer, Improvement Team, Patient Safety and Quality Improvement
Director Stakeholder Engagement, Metro South Hospital and Health Service
Project Manager, Health Consumers Queensland
Consumer and Community Liaison Officer, South West Hospital and Health Service
Chief Executive Officer, Health Consumers Queensland
Queensland Health Cultural Advisor, Cultural Capability Statewide
Principal Project Officer, Strategic Policy Unit, Queensland Health
Project Officer, Health Consumers Queensland
Principal Engagement Officer, Sunshine Coast Hospital and Health Service
Manager, Strategic Policy Unit, Queensland Health
Consumer Representative
Consumer Representative
Planning/Stakeholder Engagement Program Manager, Gold Coast Primary Health Network
Consumer Representative/Queensland Health Consumers Collaborative Member
Corporate Risk Manager, Mercy Health and Aged Care

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF TRADITIONAL OWNERS

The Board and staff of Health Consumers Queensland acknowledges the Australian Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples of this nation. We acknowledge the traditional custodians of the lands on which our organisation is located and where we conduct our business. We pay our respects to ancestors and Elders, past, present and future for they hold the memories, traditions, culture and hopes of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Australia. Researched and written by Georgina Lawson for Health Consumers Queensland.

February 2017

This document may be downloaded, printed and reproduced in an unaltered form for personal and non-commercial uses. Please acknowledge Health Consumers Queensland as the source when doing so.

#### Suggested citation:

Health Consumers Queensland. Consumer and Community Engagement Framework 2017. Brisbane: Health Consumers Queensland.

# **CONTENTS**

Proudly supported by





#### 1 In

Ρι

Н С С Er С

2 W C

С Ö

3 A C e

W •

> ta W ta W Η

W •

A 4

6

Introduction and context	2
Purpose of the Framework	
History of Health Consumers Queensland's Consumer and Community Engagement Framework	
Current context	
What is consumer and community engagement?	4
Consumer roles	
Drivers of engagement	
Legislative and policy context	
What facilitates engagement and what gets in the way?	
A Framework for consumer and community engagement	14
Where does engagement take place?	
When does engagement take place?	
What role can consumers play?	
How can health organisations use the spectrum in practice?	
What are the fundamentals of good engagement?	
Extending your reach	
Evaluation and measurement	
Appendices	24

• Queensland case studies

# 

#### Purpose of the Framework

The Consumer and Community Engagement Framework is designed to orient health organisations to what underpins successful consumer and community engagement. The goal of this Framework is to encourage health organisations to embed consumer and community engagement in their work. This requires staff thinking beyond accreditation against the National Safety and Quality Health Service Standards. Meaningful engagement connects staff to the people they support, the purpose of their work and enables them to deliver care that leads to better outcomes.

The Framework can be used across the health system from public and private health services, primary health organisations, government departments to universities and research centres. It will support health providers to develop strong consumer and community partnerships that drive changes, delivers better outcomes and provide healthcare the community wants and needs.

Though written primarily for health organisations, it is hoped that the Framework will also assist consumers to understand what they can expect from health organisations they engage with, and support them to develop effective partnerships and a common understanding of their possible roles.

This Framework is not a 'how to' guide. The Framework provides health organisations with an understanding of *what* engagement is, *when* and *where* it can take place and *why* they are doing it. When these solid foundations are present, typically, effective and meaningful engagement processes occur.

Two additional Health Consumers Queensland documents support the *how* of engagement:

 Partnering with Consumers and Community: A guide for health organisations

## CONSUMERS

Consumers are people who use, or are potential users, of health organisations including their family and carers. Consumers may participate as individuals, groups, organisations of consumers, consumer representatives or communities.<sup>1</sup>  Partnering with Health Organisations: A guide for consumers and community.

#### History of Health Consumers Queensland's Consumer and Community Engagement Framework

The Framework was first published in 2012 as the National Safety and Quality in Health Care Standards<sup>2</sup> (the National Standards) came into effect and in Queensland, the Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011<sup>3</sup> was passed into legislation.

Both these reforms acted as levers for health organisations to begin to embed consumer and community engagement into their services and continue to do so. The Standards require hospitals to meet Standard 2: Partnering with Consumers and the Hospital and Health Boards Act requires all publically funded services to have a consumer and community engagement strategy in place.

The Framework was developed via widespread consultation with consumers, carers and health services with the aim of supporting health organisations to do this work.

#### **Current context**

Since the introduction of the Framework in 2012, health organisations have deepened their knowledge and experience in consumer and community engagement. Health Consumers Queensland undertook a review of our Framework in 2016/2017 to ensure it remains relevant and useful for this changing environment.

The review has taken place at the same time as the National Standards are being reviewed by the Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care. Our review ensures that the Framework will continue to act as a guide against the updated version of the National Standards.

In primary health, Medicare Locals began operation in 2011 and were required to engage with their communities but were not required to undertake specific engagement processes. Primary Health Networks are now mandated to have a community advisory committee as a way of engaging with their communities.<sup>4</sup>

Concurrently, the community sector is witnessing a significant shift to consumer directed care.

The National Disability Insurance Scheme and aged care sectors are now driven by the needs and preferences of the consumers of services. This shift in choice and control will likely increase the demand for, and hasten the necessity of consumercentred care in the health system. Consumers have greater expectations of the level of involvement they should have when making informed choices about the services they receive individually, and collectively expect greater involvement of consumers in the planning, service delivery and evaluation of healthcare services.

The move towards consumer rights is not new, in fact it has grown out of, the consumer, civil and human rights movements which had their births in the 1960s.<sup>5</sup> Health organisations have embraced these movements at varying rates as in order to do so requires enormous cultural shifts in the mind-sets of all leaders, clinicians, policy makers and the community. It also requires supporting consumers and community to be actively involved through the sharing of control and decision-making.

### **ABOUT HEALTH CONSUMERS QUEENSLAND**

Health Consumers Queensland is the peak organisation representing the interests of health consumers and carers in the state. Health Consumers Queensland is a not-for-profit organisation and a registered health promotion charity and we believe in improving health outcomes for people in Queensland.

Our priority focus is on consumer engagement that influences and leads improvements and delivers better health outcomes for all Queenslanders. We achieve this through our Queensland-wide health consumer network, tailored training and skills development programs, and maximising opportunities for consumer representation at all levels of the health system.



## SECTION SUMMARY

- Health Consumers Queensland is a not-for-profit peak organisation representing the interests of health consumers and carers in the state.
- Our first Framework was published in 2012 to support the new National Standards and the Queensland Health and Hospital Board Act's requirement for all Hospital and Health Services to have a consumer and community engagement strategy.
- Consumer and community engagement has evolved significantly since 2012. The Framework has been reviewed to ensure it remains relevant and continues to assist health organisations work in this area.
- The revised Framework is designed to help health organisations achieve meaningful consumer and community engagement and to assist consumers to understand what they can expect when engaging with health services.

# WHAT IS CONSUMER AND COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT?

Consumer and community engagement refers to the activities and processes through which consumers and their communities partner with health organisations in the design, delivery, evaluation and monitoring of their services.

Put simply, it is the most effective way for health

# **CONSUMER ENGAGEMENT**

Processes through which consumers and carers actively partner with health organisations in their own healthcare and in health policy, planning, service delivery and evaluation at all levels of the health system.<sup>1</sup>

## **COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT**

Community engagement refers to activities and processes where the opinions, concerns, needs and aspirations of community members are sought by government, non-government, not-for-profit services and are incorporated into the planning, design and delivery of health organisations. Community engagement is based on relationship building, partnership and the principle that community has resources and expertise.<sup>7</sup>

# **HEALTH SERVICES**

Health services refers to public and private health and community services delivering services which include health promotion, disease prevention, diagnostic, treatment, primary, acute, sub-acute and support services. It also includes the policies and activities of departments and Ministries, related nongovernment organisations, consumer and community groups and professional associations.<sup>8</sup> organisations to understand what and how their community wants healthcare to be delivered in order to best meet their needs and preferences and to work in partnership with them to achieve it.

Consumer and community engagement is not uniformly defined.<sup>6</sup> There is no arbitrary line where consumer engagement finishes and community engagement begins. However, generally speaking, consumer engagement in health occurs in activities where consumers partnering with health organisations have a lived experience of the service and/or the health issue in focus or are a part of a 'group' that share a particular collective experience of healthcare e.g. refugees or Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islanders .

Community engagement takes place with 'broader' groups of consumers and community members who are able to speak about the types of healthcare they would like and contribute to addressing issues such as access, health literacy and strategic priorities. In community engagement, it may be likely that some participants do not identify as health consumers, but as community members.

Community engagement is more likely to occur to inform broader strategies and to ensure the health organisation is connecting with communities that face barriers to accessing healthcare (please see *Extending your Reach* section).

There are diverse ways in which engagement can occur. A health organisation that has embedded engagement as an essential way of doing business will be continuously partnering with consumers in multiple ways and phases of projects, across the organisation.

Person-centred care can be viewed as the individual level of consumer engagement and may contribute to the design, delivery, monitoring and evaluation of services if feedback is acted upon to inform patient experience and shared decision making in clinical practice. The purpose of consumer and community engagement is to achieve meaningful improvement in both the quality and safety of services being delivered and in order to achieve this consumer and community engagement must have a broader focus than individual clinical care.

Engagement can be done in collaboration with other health organisations and result in shared learning and more integrated services. Consumers' main concern is not with the source of funding for their services but with the accessibility and coordination of their individual healthcare journeys.

Partnering with consumers in the health system is only limited by willingness and imagination.

#### **Consumer roles**

A diversity of roles, expectations and terminology exist around the concept of a 'consumer' in the health sector context. While all people can be considered consumers through their use or potential use of health services, in a consumer engagement setting, there are additional expectations.

Consumers participating in engagement activities in the health sector are recruited for specific experience and strengths. Consumers can have a lived experience of using health services and networks and also represent a group, network or consumer organisation and the ability to present perspectives other than their own (consumer representative).

Health services must be clear about the experience, strengths and networks they are seeking from consumers for engagement opportunities. In many cases it will be appropriate to have multiple consumers with a variety of abilities. The diversity of voices engaging with an organisation is important (for more information please see *Community Engagement – Extending your Reach* section).

Consumers may have an in depth knowledge of health conditions and evidence for treatment and models of care, but they should not be expected to have a technical or clinical background. They may have a legitimate and personal interest in a health subject and they are at the table to share their lived experience of receiving clinical care. It is the responsibility of the health service to ensure that consumers have clinical information explained to them where it is necessary in order to be able to partner effectively.

We acknowledge current staff of health services are also consumers of healthcare. It is recommended that staff should not take on the role of a consumer within engagement activities in their service as:

 staff knowledge of the service can create biases and make it difficult for them to see barriers and/or possible solutions (or think outside the box). This might still occur with past staff members or staff from other areas of the service.

## CONSUMER REPRESENTATIVE

A health consumer representative is a health consumer who has taken up a specific role to advocate on behalf of consumers, with the overall aim of improving healthcare.

A consumer representative is someone who voices consumer perspectives other than their own and takes part in decision making on behalf of consumers. A health consumer representative may be nominated and supported by and accountable to, a consumer organisation.<sup>9</sup>

## **'ACTIVE' CONSUMER**

Other consumers whose experience and strengths come from their lived experience of using health services can be referred to in a number of ways, for example, consumer advocate, consumer advisor, community advisor.

## CARERS

Carers are people who provide care and support to family members and friends who have a disability, mental illness, chronic condition, terminal illness, an alcohol or other drug issue or who are frail aged. Carers are an integral part of Australia's health system and are the foundation of our aged, disability, palliative and community care systems. Australia has over 2.8 million carers, 12% of the population.<sup>10</sup>  staff in a consumer role may find it challenging to be impartial or advocate effectively when other staff are present.

There are two exceptions to this:

- staff who are participating in an activity coordinated by an area of the health service outside of their own role, who have specific representative experience and skills; and
- 2. peer workers whose roles are primarily to support consumers.

Staff can always still participate in engagement activities as staff representatives rather than consumers.

#### The evidence for consumer engagement

There is a growing evidence base on the benefits of consumer engagement within health organisations. This evidence is however focused largely on consumer-centred care and building a body of evidence has been limited by the variety of language used to describe consumer and community engagement concepts. For example patient-centred care, patient experience, co-design, partnerships, shared decision making, co-creation, consumer engagement, etc.<sup>11</sup>

The paradigm in which the health system operates values evidence that is academic, empirical and published in journals and places less weight on anecdotal and experiential knowledge. Consumer engagement is designed to improve services and generate new and innovative ideas. People working within health services who have led and participated in engagement with consumers and community have witnessed and can articulate how these partnerships have resulted in outcomes such as more appropriate, safer and higher quality, and more efficient and cost effective services. A challenge for the health sector is to turn this anecdotal knowledge gained through experience into knowledge that is evidence based and empirical.<sup>12</sup>

This does not have to be the only approach to gathering evidence. Consumers, consumer organisations and health organisations need to work together to capture and document consumer and staff experiences and their impact on service delivery and engagement processes. Health services can recognise the intrinsic value of this

### **CONSUMER ENGAGEMENT MYTHS**

## I'm a clinician, engagement has nothing to do with me

As a clinician you may already see gaps in your service, sometimes brought to your attention by the people you provide care for. Partnering with consumers to address these gaps helps to ensure solutions are found that are more broad (not just focusing on clinical aspects but also social and emotional wellbeing for consumer and staff), more sustainable and consumer-centred.

As a clinician, regardless of whether you are a graduate or in a leadership role, you can demonstrate to others the value of partnering with consumers in decision-making. This could be as simple as asking a question in your team meeting, "How can we ask consumers what matters most to them in relation to an issue?" or "What can we do to address the issues that matter most to consumers?"

If you are unsure how to partner with consumers or don't know where to begin, there will be colleagues in your organisation who can help you.

# I only know of a few experienced consumers

Health services and organisations play a crucial role in developing and supporting consumers so they gain confidence and more experience in partnering with health services. Every consumer you consider 'experienced' started with no experience. You can play a crucial role in recruiting and retaining a pool of consumers and help them to build up their own knowledge and expertise in the area. For example:

- Start small and grow your network of consumers over time.
- Ensure you provide orientation, training, support and professional development to consumer advocates so they can be an effective voice for consumers more quickly.
- Host a morning tea so consumers get a chance to come together and provide some peer support and ideas to help others in similar roles.

knowledge as evidence and use it to inform the planning, delivery and evaluation of services. These stories can also be powerful tools for championing health service achievements.

Of the empirical evidence that is emerging, consumer and community engagement has been shown to:

- improve experiences of care which is known to be associated with improved health outcomes
- produce health information that is understandable and meets the needs of consumers<sup>11</sup>
- ensure more accessible services (e.g. transport, appointment processes)<sup>12</sup>
- result in attitudes and cultures of health organisations being more open to involving consumers<sup>12</sup>
- increase quality of services<sup>12</sup>
- create more responsive services and better outcomes<sup>14</sup>
- lower risks of post-treatment complications and reduced hospital and medical visits.<sup>15</sup>

What can you do to increase the body of evidence that shows the positive impact consumer engagement has on health services? Can this research be led by consumers?

#### The drivers of engagement

Most people choose to work in the health sector so they can contribute to the wellbeing of their community. Consumer engagement reconnects health staff to their values and reasons for working in health, to the people they support, and enables them to deliver care that leads to better outcomes. The drive to engage with consumers goes beyond simply satisfying the requirements of accreditation under the National Safety and Quality Health Service Standards.

Following are some quotes from health staff from Hospital and Health Services across the state which illustrate the value they gain engaging with consumers.

- Engage two consumers on a steering committee or a working group so the 'new' consumer can be mentored by an experienced consumer; and both consumers can learn from and support each other.
- See every interaction with a consumer as an opportunity to invite someone to partner with your service. Even if it is just "you have some really great ideas, would you be interested in helping us to improve the service?"

# I'm too busy and the timelines are really tight

Consumer engagement does require some investment of time. When consumers are engaged at the planning stage of your project it can make the project more focused and you realise effective outcomes sooner. You'll end up with a service that meets the needs of your community while at the same time building the capacity of consumers to better manage their own health. It's better for everyone to engage early than to face a community protest at your door or an adverse outcome that could've been prevented.

#### I'm engaging with consumers all the time, we see them every day

Providing consumer-centred care is an important level of engagement, but how do you know that you (and your team) are providing care that feels safe and is appropriate for the person? Asking questions to people beyond their clinical needs helps you to know some things you would never have known unless you asked and this is one of the key tasks of consumer engagement. For example, "How easy is it for you to attend this clinic?"

You may already feel that a clinician's ability to provide consumer-centred care is constrained by a number of elements (e.g. funding, time, confidentiality); so partnering with consumers to co-design a model of care, process or clinical guideline, can help you to provide each consumer with the best care possible because it's been designed with the needs of the consumer in mind. Telling their personal stories can be a powerful way for consumers to engage and influence healthcare. People remember stories because they have heart reactions to them. Focusing on the personal can refocus health staff to keep consumers at the heart of the care they deliver.

•

"(Having a consumer group) adds a whole lot of merit. It opens conversations that otherwise wouldn't happen... As clinicians we think about how it would feel or look for a patient, but at the end of the day we work here... I would encourage anyone to have a consumer representative at their meetings."

Hospital Nursing Director, Women's and Family Services, and Chair of a maternity consumer advisory group



Health Consumers Queensland Annual Forum 2016

••

"Partnering with consumers actually makes life easier for health staff. It adds additional expertise into the system that supports decision making and enables staff to be more confident that we are actually delivering services how the community wants them to be delivered... I have also found that consumers can be tremendous advocates for the health service as well. They start to understand how complex a health service can be, and that there are many factors that need to be considered in planning and design. I find they take this information back to the community and help the community to understand how healthcare works and the rationale behind the system. This creates shared understanding, and in my opinion, makes things better for everyone." Person-centred Care Lead, public hospital

"As a health care provider it is vitally important to actively listen, to listen with intent, because only then can we fully appreciate and understand the patient experience of care. The patient experience of care is critical to driving and shaping effective 21st century health systems."

**Executive Director, Mental Health Services** 

# The legislative and policy context of engagement

There are a number of drivers of consumer engagement at state, national and international levels, the majority of which articulate the need for participation of consumers and community in their health systems. Health organisations should be aware of these not only for the purposes of accreditation and meeting legislative requirements, but because they outline the aspirations and expectations of consumers for health services that meet their needs.

#### National Safety and Quality Health Service Standards

The National Safety and Quality Health Service Standards (NSQHS) have been an important driver of the growing focus on consumer and community engagement in Australia. The Standards came into effect in 2012 and are designed to drive the implementation of safety and quality systems within both public and private hospitals. "They provide a nationally consistent statement about the level of care consumers can expect from health service organisations."<sup>2</sup>

The ten standards include Standard 2: Partnering with Consumers which articulates that engagement must take place. Each of the remaining standards also incorporate consumer engagement requirements, demonstrating its relevance in all areas of clinical governance.

Standard 2: Partnering with consumers articulates that engagement must take place at all levels of the health service. The criteria that must be met in the current standards are focused on demonstrating partnerships in service planning, designing care and in service measurement and evaluation.

The current standards are being reviewed (referred to as version 2) and will come into effect in 2018/2019. The draft of version 2 reflects a shift in criteria for accreditation in relation to Standard 2.<sup>16</sup> The criteria in draft form are; clinical governance and quality improvement systems to support partnering with consumers, partnering with patients in their own care, health literacy and partnering with consumers in organisational design and governance.

### **HEALTH LITERACY**

Health literacy is your skills and abilities, how well you can find, understand and act on health information, make health decisions and find and use health services.<sup>2</sup>

The draft version 2 of the NSQHS standards also strengthens how services measure cultural capability and responsiveness. This has resulted from a project to investigate how the NSQHS can be used to achieve improvements in the care provided to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islanders. Six specific actions for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islanders are included in the draft and guides on how to best deliver quality care will be available on the Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care website.

While the Standards have been effective drivers of engagement, accreditation against them should not be the benchmark to which health services are working as they are designed to ensure that minimum safety and quality standards are met.

#### National Standards for Mental Health Services

Mental Health Services are required to meet the National Standards for Mental Health Services.

Standard 3: Consumer and Carer Participation outlines clearly the centrality of consumer engagement for accreditation, including the provision of training and support to consumers and their reimbursement and remuneration for participation.<sup>17</sup>

#### Human Services Quality Framework

Organisations delivering health services in Queensland may also be contracted to provide programs through other departments. In this case they must meet the requirements of the Human Services Quality Framework which also requires that services demonstrate how they partner with consumers.<sup>18</sup> If every framework, standard, legislation, charter and health consumer is telling you engagement is important... it is time to value it, resource it, model and embrace it.

#### Queensland Health NGO Performance Framework

Non-government organisations receiving Queensland Health funding are required to report on a six monthly basis against the Queensland Health NGO Performance Framework. They must demonstrate that they promote accountable management practices and address a range of consumer involvement and quality improvement activities, including how service users can inform and participate in service planning, delivery and improvement, as well as describe their organisation's strategies to deliver culturally appropriate services and address service barriers.

#### Legislation

In Queensland, section 40 of the Health and Hospital Boards Act 2011 mandated that Hospital and Health Services have a Consumer and Community Engagement Strategy in order to promote "consultation with health consumers and members of the community...".<sup>3</sup>

#### **Contractual requirements**

Primary Health Networks (PHNs) are required under their contractual arrangements to have a community advisory committee to provide a community perspective to PHN Boards and engage broadly across their region with other health organisations.<sup>19</sup>

#### National strategies and frameworks

There are strategies and frameworks that guide work in many areas of health. These national frameworks have a focus on engagement with consumers. For example:

- National Framework for Action on Dementia 2015–2019<sup>20</sup>
- National Framework for Protecting Australia's Children 2009–2020<sup>21</sup>
- Framework for Mental Health in Multicultural Australia 2014<sup>22</sup>
- National Strategic Framework for Chronic Conditions 2017<sup>23</sup>

Health staff should be aware of any frameworks and strategies that may support their work.



#### **Broader context**

The Australian Charter of Healthcare Rights articulates that consumers have the right to have our say and be heard not only about our own healthcare journey, but in shaping the health system.<sup>24</sup>

International charters and treaties, such as the Alma Ata Declaration (1978)<sup>25</sup>, Ottawa Charter for Health Promotion (1986)<sup>26</sup> and Jakarta Declaration on Leading Health Promotion into the 21st Century (1997)<sup>27</sup> while not enforceable in law, are relevant as they recognise the principles and actions on which governments and services should develop health policy and services. All these documents highlight the importance of the participation of consumers in their own healthcare and in health systems.

# What facilitates engagement and what gets in the way?

Health Consumers Queensland has worked closely with both health organisations and consumers across Queensland since 2008. In that time, feedback has been sought regarding what enablers and barriers exist to embedding consumer engagement into health services. This experience has also shown that the barriers and enablers identified by both health staff and consumers are very similar. This aligns with research published on the subject.<sup>6</sup>

Below are the common elements that can help and hinder services to excel at consumer and community engagement.

#### Barriers to consumer engagement

#### **Time and budget**

- Timelines too tight for effective engagement process.
- No budget allocated.

#### **Resources**

- Consumers not remunerated or reimbursed (e.g. for childcare, parking) and unable to participate due to specific assistance required but support is not available.
- Accessing consumers who are interested in participating.
- Lack of non-clinical time for senior clinicians to manage, develop and support engagement.

### WHAT CONSUMER AND COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT IS NOT:

**ONE-WAY** – the health service is **only** informing the community, not listening or learning from it and involving consumers in meaningful partnerships.

**TOKENISTIC** – not about seeking agreement to pre-determined decisions.

**ONLY COMPLETED WITH PEOPLE WHO ARE EASY TO REACH** – health services must deliver services that are appropriate for their entire population. This cannot be done without engaging with the diversity of people in the organisation's community.

**USING THE SAME FEW VOICES TO REPRESENT THE ENTIRE COMMUNITY** – Queensland communities are diverse and organisations must work to engage with people from a variety of backgrounds with varied opinions and ideas through activities throughout their region.

A SINGLE PROCESS – organising an annual on-line survey to hear from the community or involving a consumer or two on a high level patient safety and quality governance, strategic projects or capital works committee is not enough. Engagement needs to occur in multiple ways and places at multiple times.

#### **Understanding and attitudes**

- Clinician/health staff and consumer professional divide.
- Fear of change and accountability.
- Lack of understanding of the benefits of engagement.
- "What do they know anyway?"
   "What do I know?"

#### **Training and support**

- Staff don't know how to engage.
- No policies and procedures in place.
- No orientation, training or professional development provided.
- Single consumer on clinical committees.

#### Lack of leadership

- Lack of board, executive and management leadership and support.
- Engagement not a priority and often tokenistic.
- Processes start but aren't ongoing/completed due to restructure and/or funding changes.
- Lack of clarity around who is responsible for engagement? Or the belief that it is the responsibility of only one person across an organisation.



#### Enablers of consumer engagement

#### Leadership

- Led from the top down genuine buy in from executive and board levels.
- It is a strategic priority with a budget and resources.

#### Commitment

- Genuine commitment to partnerships to achieve service improvement – processes are not tokenistic and demonstrate shared influence over outcomes.
- Culture of the health service is that engagement is valuable and everyone's responsibility.

#### Values based

 Activities are clearly based on values and principles (please see page 18 for principles).

#### **Processes and support**

- Standardised processes are established to support engagement (e.g. policy, remuneration and orientation manuals).
- Documentation, evaluation and networking opportunities are in place.
- Provide training for consumers and staff.
- Well defined strategies in place to engage with culturally and linguistically diverse people and Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples.
- Provide and communicate the mechanisms for consumers and community to bring ideas to the service and processes in place to close the feedback loop on the impact of these ideas.



## SECTION SUMMARY

- Consumer and community engagement is the most effective way for health services to understand how to best meet the healthcare needs of their community.
- Consumer engagement utilises the lived experience of consumers of a service or health issue.
- Community engagement can inform issues such as access, health literacy and strategic priorities.
- Engagement can take place in a variety of ways across a health service and is only limited by willingness and imagination.
- Consumers are recruited for specific experience and strengths including their networks and lived experience.
- Evidence exists that shows consumer and community engagement in health services results in better access, increased quality and better outcomes.
   More work needs to be done to develop this evidence base further.
- There are legislative and policy drivers of consumer and community engagement, however for many health workers, they understand its importance and value beyond the formal requirements.
- There are common elements that help and hinder health services to excel at consumer and community engagement.

# A FRAMEWORK FOR CONSUMER AND COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT

#### Where does engagement take place?

Consumer and community engagement can occur in all facets of health. From priority setting for strategic planning of a statewide service or an entire health region, to developing health literate information, and to making decisions about their own care, consumers should be involved.

These activities can be broken down into; individual, service, network and system areas.<sup>28</sup>

AREA OF ENGAGEMENT	WHERE THE ENGAGEMENT OCCURS	EXPLANATION
1. Individual	• Individual healthcare delivery	Engagement in individual care sees consumers as partners in their own (or loved ones) healthcare and treatment. It is referred to as person-centred care.
2. Service	<ul><li>Program and service delivery</li><li>Facility/hospital</li></ul>	Service level engagement is focused on partnerships that impact on the planning, delivery, evaluation and monitoring of programs and services at a facility level.
3. Network	<ul> <li>Health and Hospital Services</li> <li>Primary Health Networks</li> <li>Non-government and other community stakeholders</li> </ul>	Regional engagement processes as health organisations seek input into broader plans across their service area.
4. System	<ul><li>Local government</li><li>State government</li><li>Commonwealth government</li></ul>	Engagement on health policy, reform and legislation influence and change the health system across local, state and Commonwealth jurisdictions.

#### When does engagement take place?

Engagement should take place across planning, implementation, monitoring, evaluation and review and is an integral part of continuous improvement processes. Good engagement occurs early; at the priority setting and planning phase and can (and should) continue through to evaluation and review. Refer to *Diagram A*.

A range of engagement processes can be utilised at different phases of a project, ensuring that a broad range of consumers have been involved. For example a forum may be held to involve a number of consumers to identify priorities. Out of this a steering committee which includes consumer representative(s), may be set up to implement some key recommendations. Additional consumers may be engaged in focus groups to ensure inclusive models of care are developed.



Person-centred care is the individual level of consumer engagement. However clinicians can only provide true consumer-centred care if the services being delivered have been developed with consumers.

For example, a clinician may involve a consumer in all decisions about their healthcare (which is one feature of person-centred care), but, in order to see that clinician the consumer has to wait two months for an appointment, travel three hours and take time off work to get to the appointment as no after hours and local services are available.

By engaging and working with consumers at a service level, the clinician (and other stakeholders) may develop an alternative model of care where appointments can be completed via telehealth (video link) with the consumer visiting their local health service.

Through service level engagement with consumers, individual person-centred care for best possible consumer outcomes, becomes possible.

#### What role can consumers play?

Consumer and community engagement activities vary according to the level of influence that consumers have over the process and any outcomes. Currently this level of influence is defined by the health organisation.

The International Association of Public Participation (IAP2) spectrum is useful to define the consumer role in engagement processes.<sup>29</sup> As such, it is widely used in engagement activities internationally across industry, government and community.

Each 'level' on the spectrum from inform to consumer-led indicates the greater involvement of consumers in defining the issue/area that needs to be addressed, decision making and the outcome.\*

In this Framework, the final level of engagement in the IAP2 spectrum has been changed from 'empower' to 'consumer led' to reflect the specific and active role of consumers.

This can be understood in terms of *Diagram B* (page 17).

Different levels of influence will be appropriate

for specific activities, and a health organisation may have engagement activities taking place across all levels of the spectrum simultaneously.

It is important to recognise that one end of the spectrum is not 'bad' nor the other fundamentally 'good'. In fact, all engagement activities rely on the effective use of the inform level. Information empowers people to make decisions. Consumers can work most effectively with health organisations when they are provided with information that supports them to partner to the fullest extent possible.

Consumers should be involved in processes from as early as possible regardless of the level of engagement. In order to partner at the collaborate and consumer led levels consumers must be engaged at the planning and design phases as it is at these levels consumers play a role in defining the issue(s) to be addressed.

Generally, the way in which a health organisation engages (the 'method') is not an indicator of the level of engagement. For example, a consumer advisory group can be functioning at an inform

#### Example 1 of the spectrum in practice

### HEALTH LITERACY INFORMATION

#### INFORM

The health organisation provides consumers with information about their medical condition and treatment options.

#### CONSULT

An area of the health organisation has written a new pamphlet about a medical condition and before going to print, they send it out to consumers on their network for comment. These comments may not necessarily be incorporated in the final document.

#### INVOLVE

An area of the health organisation is updating its patient information pamphlets. Before they write it, they seek feedback from consumers of the service on what

they like and don't like about the current pamphlet and ask for ideas for what should be included in the revised version. This input is reflected in the final product.

#### COLLABORATE

The health organisation has received feedback about some of its patient information pamphlets. The service invites the consumers who provided feedback and other

users of the service to come together and partner to create new patient information, including codesigning the content and layout. This might include an alternate method for providing information.

#### CONSUMER-LED

Consumers approach the health organisation to identify a gap in accessible health information. The consumers lead the process, working with the health service to create a new fact sheet and deliver consumer led health literacy that meets the need of the people

using the service.

level if their primary responsibility is to feedback information from the health organisation to the community. An advisory group can be working at a collaborative level if they are working with the health organisation to define and solve issues.

Health organisations should ensure that they are engaging with consumers at the involve, collaborate and consumer-led levels of the spectrum wherever possible. These levels indicate a genuine partnership with consumers and will result in services that deliver care that the community wants and that responds to community need.

#### Diagram B: THE ENGAGEMENT SPECTRUM

#### How can health organisations use the spectrum in practice?

When planning engagement activities, health staff can use the spectrum to establish the level of impact that the consumers they partner with will have over the proposed process and outcome.

Health organisations must be clear with consumers about their level of influence in a project. Consumers who understand their roles and how their input will be used, are able to approach their roles effectively and the health service has established trust which is essential for building productive partnerships.



#### Example 2 of the spectrum in practice

### **DEVELOPING A MODEL OF CARE**

The health organisation produces a fact sheet and media release to let the community know of a new service being offered to renal patients.

CONSULT

The renal unit has designed a new service to be delivered at the main hospital in the region. They draft a model of care and ask the hospital's consumer advisory committee for feedback (whose members have not used renal services). Some of the feedback is evident in the final model.

#### INVOLVE

Recognising a need for a new renal service, staff put together a focus group of consumers who have used renal services to consider their concerns and preferences. The service

incorporates this information in the development of the model and then engages with the same consumers and then more broadly, to ensure the model reflects community needs.

#### **COLLABORATE**

The renal unit puts together a steering committee made up of clinicians and renal consumers to oversee the development of a new model of care. This steering committee is involved in all

aspects of decision making, and engages with consumers more broadly throughout the process to ensure a wide range of views and needs are catered for.

#### **CONSUMER-LED**

Users of the renal service suggest changes to the existing model of care in feedback provided to the hospital. Staff follow up on this feedback and ask the consumers who provided it to lead a process to develop a consumer-centred model of care with the support of staff. This is done through a process of

collaborative, consumer led activities and decision making.

#### What are the fundamentals of good engagement?

Consumer and community engagement work must be underpinned by principles. Engagement is relationship-based work. The principles below reflect the values that have been articulated as desirable by consumers and health services who have participated in the development of this Framework.

### PRINCIPLES

#### Partnership

Working relationships between engagement partners are built on transparent and accountable processes. The purpose of consumer and community engagement is to shape service delivery to better meet consumer and community needs. Engagement takes place at all levels of the service: planning, design, delivery, evaluation and monitoring.

#### **Respect and dignity**

Engagement partners value each other's perspectives, knowledge and beliefs and develop relationships based on clear and open communication and shared goals. Partnerships focus on solutions and support the participation of consumers and community.

#### Inclusive

Engagement processes are accessible, flexible and designed to promote partnerships with populations that reflect the diversity of their communities and identified health needs. The health service engages through outreach and is respectful of existing community resources and expertise.

#### Improvement

All engagement activities are evaluated by health staff and consumers and findings implemented for continuous improvement. Ongoing training and development opportunities are provided to support the capability building of all engagement partners.

### **PRINCIPLES IN PRACTICE**

How do we know we are working to our principles?

Guidelines, policies and procedures are in place to guide transparent, accountable and creative processes that support staff to create meaningful and equal partnerships within their health organisation and communities.

Consumers and community are engaged at the planning phase of projects to maximise their opportunity to contribute to and shape the outcome.

Consumers and staff are provided with clear information about the engagement activities they participate in, including the scope and responsibilities of their roles (e.g. in Terms of Reference) and the outcomes and progress of their partnerships.

All staff and consumers are provided with training on consumer and community engagement, how to partner effectively, and effective communication and facilitation.

Engagement partners have opportunities for professional development e.g. attending conferences, forums and external training.

Evaluation of engagement activities is built into all project plans and undertaken to assess the quality of the partnerships and encourage continuous improvement. Both health staff and consumer feedback on activities is sought.

Remuneration and reimbursement processes are in place to ensure consumers are not out of pocket and are remunerated for their time.

Engagement activities are held external to the health organisation in local communities and are scheduled at a variety of times and days to respect the needs of consumers with work and family responsibilities.

Health organisations partner with external agencies (e.g. multicultural, youth agencies) and where appropriate external staff lead culturally appropriate processes.

Creative engagement methods are explored to ensure that activities are appropriate for all parts of the community, e.g. people with low literacy, children and young people. Principles are an important foundation to engagement processes, but are only relevant if they are evident in the policies, processes and activities completed every day. The table below shows how principles are evident in engagement practice and what the key outcomes of principled, or value-based engagement are.

KEY OUTCOME AREAS	OUTCOME THEME
What will we see happening?	
Health organisation staff feel confident and supported to engage with consumers and community to achieve outcomes.	Staff capacity
The work you do, when done in partnership with the community, will reflect their needs, deliver appropriate care to all sections of the community and lead to better health outcomes for all.	
A growing number of consumers are partnering with health organisations with the confidence that they share goals, and they will be heard and have influence over outcomes within their health organisation.	
The health organisation has a broad range of identified partners in the community, e.g. community organisations, primary health organisations, local clubs.	<section-header></section-header>
The health organisation is an integral part of the community and participates in community events.	
A transparent continuous improvement cycle is in place for engagement and partners share their learnings and successes.	
An ongoing allocation for consumer and community engagement is required in budgets in all areas and at all levels of a health organisation.	

#### Extending your reach

Queensland is a diverse state; geographically, culturally, economically and socially. Health organisations must consider the diversity of their service areas and population health needs when planning their services and developing strategic and operational plans.

Consumer engagement takes place most often within health organisation facilities and within

Think about the last time you advertised for a consumer.

- How and where did you invite people to participate – in writing to your existing networks?
- Did they have to volunteer? Or were you able to remunerate and reimburse for their time and costs such as transport and parking?
- Did they have to complete a written Expression of Interest?
- Was the activity located in the local hospital, face to face?

existing activities (e.g. committees which are made up with a majority of health staff, i.e. quality and safety committees). Community engagement is more focussed on connecting with the community through outreach.

Outreach is especially important for health organisations to complete in order to ensure that the diversity of their community is reflected in the voices and opinions being heard in both consumer and community engagement.

Health organisations must ensure that their reach extends to population groups\*\* who face barriers to accessing healthcare and are less likely to volunteer to engage in activities through commonly used engagement methods (e.g. call for volunteers advertisements). The people more likely to respond to general calls for consumers to participate are those who are familiar with the health system, do not see it as intimidating and have enough confidence to believe they may be able to contribute. These 'harder to reach' groups may include:

- Socially and economically marginalised
- People living in remote communities
- People with a disability

### ENGAGEMENT MYTHS – CULTURALLY AND LINGUISTICALLY DIVERSE AND REFUGEE POPULATIONS

Engaging with culturally and linguistically diverse and refugee communities costs too much. Our service does not have the money or resources to do it.

There are resources/people in the community that you can work with in order to engage with culturally and linguistically diverse and refugee consumers. By partnering with other organisations and groups who already work with culturally and linguistically diverse consumers and other health organisations, you will find that there are existing programs and additional funding opportunities available to support you to collaborate and engage.

- Identify current resources available, e.g. local neighbourhood centre.
- Connect with community organisations who engage with CALD and refugee populations.
- Partner with organisations/existing programs.

I'm not sure what I need to do to work with culturally and linguistically diverse and refugee consumers and communities and I have to do it all myself.

• You don't have to do it all yourself. There are many community organisations and associations that have expertise that health organisations can work with.

- People who are homeless
- Culturally and linguistically diverse peoples and refugees
- Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islanders
- Lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, intersex and queer people (LGBTIQ)
- Young people.

These groups can be less likely to volunteer to engage for a range of reasons. For example, many people from culturally and linguistically diverse communities come from a culture that uses alternate treatment options other than a hospital service. They may not necessarily see the service as providing culturally informed and respectful services, do not like to be seen as "complaining", and may have limited health literacy.

There are many associations and organisations within the community that health organisations can partner with to support this engagement work. These organisations have existing relationships with communities they serve and may be more appropriate to lead processes on behalf of the health organisation. This can also assist health staff to develop trust with new communities.

### COMMUNITY

Community refers to groups of people with diverse characteristics who are connected through common location, attitudes, cultures or interests. Individuals can be considered to be members of multiple communities at once. In the health context, it can be used to describe the population of the area serviced by an organisation, a cultural group or a group of people who all experience a particular health condition.<sup>28</sup>

\*\* For the purposes of this document, 'groups' will be used to describe people with similar characteristics. These groups are in no way homogenous, nor do they necessarily identify as a group and individuals can belong to multiple groups.

- When working with culturally and linguistically diverse and refugee communities, developing relationships is central.
- It may be better to ask members of the community to lead the project. There are many people in your community who want to improve healthcare for culturally and linguistically diverse and refugee communities and by collaborating with them you will learn the skills to do it and develop partnerships for the future.
- Connect with community networks e.g. Pasifika Women's Alliance.

We'll begin to co-design with 'mainstream' consumers and then we'll figure out how to do it with culturally and linguistically diverse consumers.

• By flipping this belief, and designing health

organisations and programs with culturally and linguistically diverse and refugee communities (or any other vulnerable or marginalised group of people) first you will increase your chances of developing a holistic, integrated, consumer-centred service that meets the needs of ALL health consumers and their families. For example, developing an oral health service with the culturally and linguistically diverse and refugee communities will ensure that access, affordability, appropriateness and availability is addressed; and will most likely result in a service that can adapt and respond to the individual needs/preferences of all health consumers and carers who might potentially use the service.

 It is important that health organisations develop consumer-centred services for all members of their community, not just for those who are easy to reach.

#### Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities

"Indigenous Australians continue to have lower life expectancy, higher rates of chronic and preventable illnesses, poorer self-reported health, and a higher likelihood of being hospitalised than non-Indigenous Australians."<sup>30</sup>

While progress has been made in some health areas, many health services are still not as accessible and appropriate for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander populations as for non-indigenous people.<sup>31</sup>

As some mainstream health organisations can be viewed as unsafe places, community engagement is an effective and essential way for health organisations to partner with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people to ensure organisations are culturally respectful. Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander community controlled health sectors can be a valuable partner for health organisations in the community, and services are required to work with them under the Making Tracks Framework (part of Queensland's response to health targets identified through the National Indigenous Reform Agreement (Closing the Gap)).<sup>32</sup>

The development of respectful and honest relationships is central to successful engagement with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples and it is understandable that this will take time. Some key people within Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities that health organisations should connect with prior to commencing and during any engagement are:

- local Elders
- regional councils/authorities
- community controlled organisations
- local churches.

Within Queensland, the *Queensland Health Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Cultural Capability Framework 2010–2033* is designed to support health staff in public health services with regards to developing services that are responsive to the cultural needs of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Queenslanders, and that can also be of value to other health organisations.<sup>33</sup>

Nationally, the *Cultural Respect Framework 2016–2026: For Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Health* seeks to guide delivery of culturally safe, responsive, and quality healthcare to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people and communities. Consumer participation and engagement, and stakeholder partnerships and collaboration are two focus areas identified in this Framework.<sup>34</sup>

Aboriginal Health Workers within your organisation can also be a valuable resource for engagement processes, as they have established relationships within the communities in which they work.

Health organisations must be willing to take the time to develop relationships with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities before beginning engagement activities and work with community partners to ensure that partnerships with consumers and communities result in more accessible and appropriate services.



#### **Evaluation and measurement**

There are two elements to evaluation and measurement that need to be considered by health organisations engaging with consumers and community. How to evaluate:

### 1. The quality of the engagement process undertaken

In order to measure that health organisations are improving their partnerships with consumers, evaluations of the process of engagement should be undertaken. This can include examining the experience of consumers. For example did they think:

- the purpose of the activity was well defined
- their role was clear

SECTION SUMMARY

- their ideas were listened to
- communication was respectful and they were kept up to date with progress and the impact of their engagement
- the issues that matter to the consumer are being addressed.

## 2. What outcomes were achieved for the health organisation and/or consumers

The purpose of engagement is to improve the health and wellbeing and care experience of consumers and the community through the development of services and policies. As discussed in the section *Drivers of engagement*, there is a need for the development of evidence on the efficacy of engagement.

All health organisations can play a role in developing this evidence base through building evaluation processes into their engagement projects and forming partnerships with universities and other research bodies to strengthen the authority of their findings. There may be established processes in place that can support the evaluation of engagement processes, for example, staff might consider how they can link in with their organisation's existing quality improvement initiatives or research agendas.

- Consumer and community engagement can take place on the individual, service, network and system levels.
  - Engagement can be completed at any stage of a project cycle and it is best to get consumers involved in early planning stages.
- Different engagement processes can be used within and across projects.
- Consumers can have different levels of influence over
   projects and processes. This can be understood by using the
   International Association of Public Participation Spectrum.
- Consumer engagement must be underpinned by principles which must be built in to all policies, processes and activities. These principles are partnership, respect and dignity, inclusive and improvement.
- Health organisations must engage with groups who experience barriers to accessing healthcare through community engagement to ensure they hear the voices and opinions of the diverse groups within their service area.
- Evaluation and measurement should be incorporated into all consumer and community engagement activities. This includes understanding the experience of the consumers involved in engagement and the impact engagement is having on outcomes.

# APPENDIX -CASE STUDIES

The three case studies below were written by health organisations in Queensland and are examples of consumer and community engagement that has been occurring across the state. Within these case studies there is evidence of partnerships across organisations, collaborations that are extending their reach into the community to provide services for diverse populations, and health organisations who are working with consumers to plan meaningful engagement activities. All of these examples illustrate health and community organisations and consumers that are engaging to create more accessible services and that result in better outcomes for consumers and community.

## COMMUNITY COLLABORATIVE OUTREACH TZU CHI AND METRO SOUTH HEALTH DENTAL FAIR

Tzu Chi Foundation together with QEII Dental Hospital, University of Queensland (dental students), Multicultural Development Association (MDA) and Mater Refugee Health Services have been coordinating twice yearly 'Dental Fairs' for refugees and asylum seekers for more than a decade. The Dental Fair is a one day event where refugees and asylum seekers who have been prioritised due to their vulnerable status waiting for dental assessment and care are seen by volunteer dentists.

The large increase in humanitarian entrants in the Metro-South catchment has placed significant strains on the current limited resources available to meet the demand of providing oral health care for these high-risk groups. Due to the increased demand for care in early 2016 a decision was made to increase the size and reach of the next Dental Fair, in particular with more reach into the Logan areas of Metro South. A working group was established through existing partnerships, steered by the Tzu Chi Foundation (Tzu Chi) and Metro South Oral Health (MSOH). Partner organisations included Mater Refugee Health Services, ACCESS, Australian Red Cross, MDA, Brisbane South PHN and MICAH.

All the partner organisations are committed to providing culturally appropriate, patient-centred, timely dental care. The revised collaboration, including use of a much larger oral health clinic within Metro South Oral Health (MSOH), provided a timely opportunity to increase the capacity of the Dental Fair, and substantially increase the number of patients treated. The fair was held at Yeronga Oral Health Centre, a large oral health hub of Metro South Hospital and Health Service.

MSOH worked with settlement services and asylum seeker support services (MDA, Access and Australian Red Cross) to identify newly arrived refugees (present in Australia less than 12 months) who were yet to receive dental care. Some patients were on dental waiting lists within Metro South Oral Health and partner organisations; others had not yet been identified for referral for dental care.

Approximately 144 volunteers provided dental care, coordination services, reception, administrative assistance, childcare and catering. Transport was available for patients to and from their homes (or nominated collection points). In addition to providing dental care; educational services around nutrition and general health care access were provided by health care volunteers. Fifteen funded interpreters were used on the day.

Planning with the partners began approximately three months prior to the event. All of the lessons learned, processes and experiences of previous Fairs assisted in the planning of this expanded Dental Fair.

219 refugees attended on the day from 14 different countries of origin and 19 different language groups. 42% of patients were provided restorative dental work, 11% of patients required one or more dental extractions and 13% of patients seen were put on a priority waitlist for further treatment with Metro South Oral Health.

To enable Tzu Chi, Metro South Oral Health and partner organisations to plan for future refugee care and Dental Fairs, the Fair was evaluated by a variety of methods including a mix of qualitative and quantitative measures from participants, volunteers and partner organisations. Participant, volunteer and stakeholder feedback clearly identified the Dental Fair as a success – notably, the benefit and proven success of organisations being able to work in close partnership to implement such a care program, and the positive oral health outcomes for patients including culturally appropriate, timely and empathetic care.

The main challenges identified through the evaluation and reflection focused on the administrative/operational aspects of the Dental Fair day that could be built upon.

The close collaborative relationship established will be fostered through the Refugee Oral Health working group continuing which was established to ensure refugees and asylum seekers continue to receive high quality timely dental care and care models are developed and evolve to meet ongoing demand.



### PLANNING ENGAGEMENT IN PARTNERSHIP PARTNERS IN RECOVERY WIDE BAY

Partners in Recovery (PIR) Wide Bay, which is coordinated by Central Queensland, Wide Bay, Sunshine Coast Primary Health Network (PHN) wanted to identify the best way to meaningfully engage, seek opinions and advice, and generally raise awareness for all people involved in delivering and accessing mental health services within our region. This was driven by the Lived Experience representative on our regional Strategic Collaborative. As a single representative on this Collaborative, he was concerned that one person on a panel is not representative of the diverse views, needs and experiences of the Wide Bay community who come in contact with mental health services.

We partnered with Flourish Australia, a peeroperated mental health service based in Hervey Bay, to look at ways of establishing a reference group. Initial conversations highlighted our collective aspiration to sidestep tokenism: we wanted to avoid setting up a structure that made it difficult for a diverse group of people to have input. Consequently, we decided to consult on what the model of engagement itself should look like. We approached our initial engagement with a set of principles and an open mind: purposeful, flexible, consumer-driven, accessible and honest.

We arranged a concept development day hosted by Health Consumers Queensland with 11 community members attending. The day focused on open conversations to explore what a consumer group might be, including values, activities and ways of working together the group may wish to adopt. During the day attendees sometimes queried why they were there, or what it was for, however at the end they expressed appreciation at being part of the whole developmental process.

The group identified a desire to be as inclusive as possible, and that traditional meeting structures would limit involvement. Collectively, we identified three ways we wished to engage: online through a closed Facebook group, face-to-face informal gatherings (chatting under a tree) and expression of interest opportunities for time-intensive projects.

Group feedback was positive, with one distinct "but". The "but" was a hope that this would continue the way that it started, and that the only way to test our authenticity will be through our actions.



this model, however we are not blind to its challenges. For example, the group's request for PIR to moderate the Facebook page tests our abilities to balance reputational risk with the opportunities it provides for genuine engagement. It is our hope that we will work through these struggles quickly and be on our way to establishing a vibrant community that can improve services through their experiences and collective voice.

We are committed to

### IN PARTNERSHIP WITH TRADITIONAL OWNERS AND ELDERS WEST MORETON HOSPITAL AND HEALTH SERVICE

West Moreton Hospital and Health Service (WMHHS) understands its partnership with the Traditional Owners and Elders of the West Moreton Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander community as a relationship journey. We have worked purposefully together to explore the context of our relationship, to develop ties, to share our understandings of health, to create a space for connection as well as spiritual and cultural healing. We have transitioned this emerging relationship to encompass service co-design.

In June 2016, 21 Elders of the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander community, including Traditional Owners attended a morning tea hosted by the WMHHS Chief Executive at Ipswich Hospital. The invitation outlined the health organisation's desire to "develop a meaningful and respectful relationship directly with the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Elders of the communities in which we provide care for people."

The morning tea discussion focused on developing a shared partnership vision for the future, and outlining the way forward. The Elders requested a Yarning Circle be constructed in the grounds of the hospital to reflect the importance of this renewed relationship and dialogue. The Yarning Circle will also provide a beautiful location for the Elders to visit regularly and connect with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander patients via the Hospital Liaison Team to facilitate connection as well as cultural and spiritual healing. Other community partners, the Ipswich City Council and the Darling Downs West Moreton Primary Health Network have also contributed funds to create the circle.

A traditional Soil Blessing Ceremony was held and hosted by Traditional Owners, Elders and the Health Service, to prepare the space prior to commencing circle construction. This ceremony was attended by a wide range of community members and services.

As a result of continued dialogue and relationship development we have identified co-design opportunities. Our Women's and Children's services which includes Ante-natal care and Child Health services would like to improve maternal and child health outcomes within our Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander population. Seven Elders volunteered to form Women's Business Consultation group with the Nurse Unit Manager of Women's and Children's Community Health Services to develop alternative ways of delivering services to increase early engagement by women. The Elders have suggested a variety of methods including combined drop-in clinics for ante-natal care and child health check-ups in the local community centres, outreach services in the park, culturally appropriate support for complicated pregnancies, a dad's group, culturally appropriate parenting classes and a number of other activities to improve engagement with women who might otherwise not have contact with any ante-natal and child health services.

A co-design service proposal has been prepared incorporating all of the Elders' ideas and suggestions. Our Women's Business Consultation group will continue to partner with our Health Service, providing support and participating in further design, review, evaluation and redesign activities. The Elders have also offered to continue as patrons of the codesigned service, promoting and attending clinics to support the mums and bubs, and liaising with male Elders to support the dads on an ongoing basis.

Together with our Elders, we hope to achieve a level of five or more ante-natal visits for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women, to reduce the number of low birth weight babies, to decrease smoking and anaemia rates in pregnancy, to decrease the rate of gestational diabetes, to increase breast feeding rates, and to increase the number of healthy growth and developmental checks in babies and children's critical early years.

The West Moreton Hospital and Health Service will continue to work with the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander community. We anticipate continuing to work with the Traditional Owners, Elders and community members to improve health outcomes and health experiences through genuine engagement and effective partnership.

# REFERENCES

- <sup>1</sup> Health Consumers Queensland. Consumer and Community Engagement Framework. Brisbane, February 2012
- <sup>2</sup> Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care. *Safety and Quality Improvement Guide Standard 2: Partnering with Consumers (October 2012)*. Sydney. ACSQHC, 2012.
- <sup>3</sup> Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011 (Qld)
- <sup>4</sup> Australian Government. Department of Health. *Primary Health Networks Grant Programme Guidelines*. Canberra, 2016.
- <sup>5</sup> Ocloo, J and Matthews, R. *From tokenism to empowerment: progressing patient and public involvement in healthcare improvement.* BMJ Qual Saf 2016; 25: 626-632.
- <sup>6</sup> Sarrami-Foroushani, P., Travaglia, J., Debono, Deborah and Braithwaite, J. *Implementing strategies in consumer and community engagement in health care: results of a large-scale, scoping meta-review*. BMC Health Services Research 2014, 14: 402. Available from: http://bmchealthservres.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/1472-6963-14-402
- <sup>7</sup> Tasmanian Council of Social Service Inc. Consumer Engagement Handbook for HACC Services in Tasmania. Hobart, 2012. Adapted from definition of community. Available from: http://www.tascoss.org.au/Portals/0/Documents/ Strengthening%20 Our%20Sector/Consumer%20Engagement/HACC%20Handbook%20Sept%202012.pdf.
- <sup>8</sup> World Health Organisation. *Health Promotion Glossary*. Geneva, 1998. Adapted from definition of health sector. Available from: www.who.int/hpr/NPH/docs/hp\_glossary\_en.pdf
- <sup>9</sup> Health Consumers New South Wales. *Who is a Health Consumer? And other definitions*. [Internet]. 2016. Adapted from definition of Who is a Health Consumer Representative? Available from: http://www.hcnsw.org.au/pages/who-is-a-health-consumer-and-other-definitions.html
- <sup>10</sup> Carers Australia (2016) About Carers. Adapted and available from: http://www.carersaustralia.com.au/about-carers/.
- <sup>11</sup> Sarrami-Foroushani, P., Travaglia, J., Debono, D. & Braithwaite, J. Key concepts in consumer and community engagement: a scoping meta-review. BMC Health Services Research 2014, 14: 250. Available from: https://bmchealthservres.biomedcentral. com/articles/10.1186/1472-6963-14-250
- <sup>12</sup> Nambisan, P. and Nambisan, S. *Models of consumer value cocreation in health care*. Health Care Manage Rev, 2009, 34(4). 344–354. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/?term=models+of+consumer+value+cocreation+in+health+care
- <sup>13</sup> Rocco Palumbo, (2016), Contextualizing co-production of health care: a systematic literature review. International Journal of Public Sector Management, Vol. 29 Iss 1 pp. 72–90
- <sup>14</sup> Crawford, M.J, Rutter, D., Manly, C. Weaver, T., Bhui, K., Fulop, N., and Tyrer, P. Systematic review of involving patients in the planning and development of health care. BMJ Volume 325, 30 November 2002. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ pmc/articles/PMC136920/pdf/1263.pdf
- <sup>15</sup> Nathan, S. Consumer participation: The challenges to achieving influence and equity. Australian Journal of Primary Health, Vol. 10, No. 3, 2004. Available from https://www.researchgate.net/publication/228930601\_ Consumer\_participation\_The\_ challenges\_to\_achieving\_influence\_and\_equity
- <sup>16</sup> Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care. DRAFT National Safety and Quality Health Service Standards Version 2. 2016. Available from: https://www.safetyandquality.gov.au/wp-content/uploads/2016/07/DRAFT-National-Safetyand-Quality-Health-Service-Standards-version-21.pdf
- <sup>17</sup> Commonwealth of Australia. National Standards for Mental Health Services 2010. Canberra. Commonwealth of Australia, 2012. Available from: http://www.health.gov.au/internet/main/publishing.nsf/Content/CFA833CB8C1AA178CA257BF0001E7520/ \$File/serv3.pdf
- <sup>18</sup> Department of Communities, Child Safety and Disability Services. *Human Services Quality Framework Version 4.0.* Brisbane. Queensland Government 2016. Available from: https://www.communities.qld.gov.au/resources/funding/human-servicesquality-framework/hsq-framework.pdf

- <sup>19</sup> Australian Government, Department of Health. Primary Health Networks: Grants Funding Guidelines, Department of Health. Canberra, 2016. Available from: http://www.health.gov.au/internet/main/publishing.nsf/Content/ F4F85B97E22A94CACA257F86007C7D1F/ \$File/Primary%20Health%20Network%20Grant%20Programme%20 Guidelines%20-%20V1.2%20February%202016.pdf
- <sup>20</sup> Department of Health (2015). National Framework for Action on Dementia 2015–2019. Canberra. Commonwealth of Australia. Available from: https://agedcare.health.gov.au/sites/g/files/net1426/f/documents/09\_2015/national-framework-for-action-ondementia-2015-2019.pdf
- <sup>21</sup> Department of Social Services. National Framework for Protecting Australia's Children 2009–2020. Commonwealth of Australia. Canberra, 2009. Available from: https://www.dss.gov.au/our-responsibilities/families-and-children/publications-articles/ protecting-children-is-everyones-business
- <sup>22</sup> Mental Health in Multicultural Australia. *Framework for Mental Health in Multicultural Australia: Towards culturally inclusive service delivery*. MHiMA. Brisbane,2014. Available from: http://framework.mhima.org.au/framework/index.htm
- <sup>23</sup> Department of Health. Second Draft National Strategic Framework for Chronic Conditions. Department of Health. Canberra, 2016. Available from: https://consultations.health.gov.au/population-health-and-sport-division/national-strategic-framework-forchronic-condition/supporting\_documents/Second%20draft%20National%20Strategic% 20Framework%20for%20Chronic%20 Conditions%20%20Online%20Public%20Consultation%20%20May%202016%20D16458639.PDF
- <sup>24</sup> Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care. Australian Charter of Healthcare Rights. ACSQHC. Sydney, 2016. Available from: https://www.safetyandquality.gov.au/national-priorities/charter-of-healthcare-rights/
- <sup>25</sup> World Health Organisation. *Alma Ata Declaration*. WHO. Geneva, 1978. Available from: http://www.who.int/publications/ almaata\_declaration\_en.pdf?ua=1
- <sup>26</sup> World Health Organisation. *The Ottowa Charter for Health Promotion*. WHO. Geneva, 1986. Available from: http://www.who.int/ healthpromotion/conferences/previous/ottawa/en/
- <sup>27</sup> World Health Organisation. Jakarta Declaration on Leading Health Promotion into the 21st Century. WHO. Geneva, 1997. Available from: http://www.who.int/healthpromotion/conferences/previous/jakarta/declaration/en/index2.html
- <sup>28</sup> Adapted from: Health Consumers Queensland (2012) Consumer and Community Engagement Framework. Brisbane. Health Consumers Queensland
- <sup>29</sup> International Association of Public Participation (2016). *IAP2 Public Participation Spectrum*. Available from: https://www.iap2. org.au/Resources/IAP2-Published-Resources
- <sup>30</sup> Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. *Australia's Health 2016*. AIHW. Canberra, 2016. Available from: http://www.aihw.gov. au/publication-detail/?id=60129555544
- <sup>31</sup> Australian Indigenous HealthInfoNet. *Summary of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander health, 2015*. Perth, WA: Australian Indigenous HealthInfoNet. Perth, 2016. Available from: http://www.healthinfonet.ecu.edu.au/uploads/docs/2015-summary.pdf
- <sup>32</sup> Council of Australian Governments (COAG). *National Indigenous Reform Agreement*. COAG. Canberra, 2011. Available from: https://www.coag.gov.au/node/145
- <sup>33</sup> Queensland Health. Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Cultural Capability Framework 2010–2033. Queensland Health. Brisbane, 2010. Available from: https://www.health.qld.gov.au/\_\_data/assets/pdf\_file/0014/156200/cultural\_capability.pdf
- <sup>34</sup> Australian Health Ministers' Advisory Council's National Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Health Standing Committee. *Cultural Respect Framework 2016–2026: For Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Health*. COAG Health Council. Canberra, 2016. Available from: http://www.coaghealthcouncil.gov.au/Portals/0/Cultural\_Respect\_Framework\_1December2016\_1.pdf



An electronic version of this document can be found at www.hcq.org.au

or by contacting info@hcq.org.au or phone 07 3012 9090.

Level 9, 217 George Street, Brisbane PO Box 12474 George St, Brisbane, QLD 4000 healthconsumersqueensland G HCQconsumerorg